IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT it” S A
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA o 9 =] f:
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T ;‘S: (A ,,
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NAPCO, INC. ) 2D g
)
Plaintiff, ) ’
) Case Nof’.DiZCU /59 /1‘7"
V. )  (JURY TRIAL DEMANDED)
)
RUBBERMAID INC.,, and )
NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. }
)
Defendant. )
)
)
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Napco, Inc. (“Napco”), through counsel, complains and alleges as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This is a civil action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the
United States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 271, 281, 283, and 284.

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a), as
this action arises under an Act of Congress relating to patents.

3. Venue is properly established in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and
(c) and 1400, as, upon information and belief, Defendants Rubbermaid Inc. and Newell
Rubbermaid Inc. are deemed to reside in this Judicial District, have engaged in acts of
infringement within the jurisdiction of this Court and have engaged in substantial business in this

judicial district.
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4, Napco is a North Carolina Corporation having a principal place of business at 535
Napco Road, Sparta, North Carolina, and does business in the State of North Carolina. Napco is
in the business of designing, manufacturing and marketing custom papet-related packaging and
presentation goods.

5. Upon information and belief, Rubbermaid Inc. (“Rubbermaid™) is either a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the state of Ohio, with a principal place of
business at 1147 Akron Road, Wooster, Ohio 44691, and a registered agent’s address at 225
Hillsborough Street, Raleigh, North Carolina 27603, or is an operating division of Newell
Rubbermaid Inc.

6. Upon information and belief, Rubbermaid ships, sells, or offers to sell its products
in the State of North Carolina, including into this district, has substantial contacts with this
judicial district, and has made, used, sold or offered for sale infringing products in the State of
North Carolina, as well as within this judicial district.

7. Upon information and belief, Newell Rubbermaid Inc. (*Newell”) is a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with principal places of business
at Deerfield Corporate Center One, 13010 Morris Road, Suite 100, Alpharetta, Georgia 30004,
and 6833 Stalter Drive, Suite 101, Rockford, Illinois 61108.

8. Upon information and belief, Newell ships, sells or offers to sell its products in
the State of North Carolina, including into this district, has substantial contacts with this judicial
district and has made, used, sold or offered for sale infringing products in the State of North

Carolina, as well as within this judicial district.
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9. Upon information and belief, Newell and Rubbermaid are related entities, but
investigation has failed to reveal whether Newell and Rubbermaid are separate business entities
related as parent and subsidiary, or whether Rubbermaid is a fully contained but unincorporated
division of Newell.

10.  Upon information and belief, Newell and Rubbermaid are separately incorporated
business entities.

COUNT1
Patent Infringement

11. On March 26, 2002, U.S. Patent No. 6,360,890 (the “’890 patent™), entitled
“Apparatus for Holding and Displaying a Plurality of Objects,” was duly and legally issued to
inventor J. Rockland Proffit (“Proffit”). A copy of the ‘890 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit
A

12.  Proffit assigned his entire right, title and interest in and to the ‘890 patent,
including the right to sue for and recover past, present and future infringements thereof, to
Napco.

13.  Newell or Rubbermaid or both have been and are now directly infringing the ‘890
patent by making, using, selling, and/or offering for sale in the United States organizers which
are covered by one or more of the claims of the ‘890 patent, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).

14.  Newell and/or Rubbermaid’s acts of direct infringement of the “890 patent have
been and will continue to be performed with the full knowledge of the *890 patent and without
leave, license or permission of Napco. Such activities constitute willful infringement of the ‘890

patent.
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15.  Asaresult of such direct infringement, Napco has suffered and will continue to
suffer irreparable injury and damage to its business and loss of sales and profits which it would
have realized but for Newell and/or Rubbermaid’s acts.

16.  Upon information and belief, Newell and/or Rubbermaid will continue to infringe
upon the ‘890 patent, to the irreparable damage of Napco, unless enjoined by this Court.

COUNT II
INDUCING PATENT INFRINGEMENT

17. Napco realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 15 of this
complaint into Count IL, as if fully set forth herein.

18.  Newell and/or Rubbermaid has infringed and is continuing to infringe the ‘890
patent by actively inducing others to make, use and/or sell an apparatus that infringes the ‘890
patent with knowledge that such use constitutes direct infringement of the ‘890 patent. Such acts
constitute infringement by inducement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), and Newell and/or
Rubbermaid will continue to induce infringement unless enjoined by this Court.

19.  Newell and/or Rubbermaid’s acts of inducing infringement of the ‘890 patent
have been and will continue to be performed with full knowledge of the ‘890 patent and without
leave, license or permission of Napco. Such activities constitute willful infringement of the ‘890
patent.

20.  As aresult of such induced infringement, Napco has suffered and will continue to
suffer irreparable damage to its business and a loss of sales and profits which it would have

realized but for Newell’s and/or Rubbermaid’s acts.
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WHEREFORE, Napco requests that this Court grant Judgment in its favor, and award it
the following relief:

1. Declare that the defendants’ acts and conduct infringe the ‘890 patent and the
exclusive rights in said patent held by Napco;

2. Declare that defendants have induced and are inducing infringement of the ‘890

patent, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b);

3. Declare that such infringement was willful,
4. Enter a preliminary and permanent injunction which:
a. Enjoins each defendant, its officers, agents, employees, privies,

subsidiaries, successors, and assigns and all holding by, through or under them,
and all those acting for them or in their behalf, from infringing upon the ‘890
patent; and
b. Enjoins each defendant, its directors, officers, agents, employees,
representatives, and all other persons in active participation with them, to recall
from all distributors, wholesalers, retailers and all others known to each
defendant, all products which infringe upon the ‘890 patent, and requires each
defendant to file with this Court and to serve upon Napco, within 30 days after
service of the Court’s Order as herein prayed, a report in writing under oath
setting forth in detail the manner and form in which each defendant has complied
with the Court’s Order;

5. Require each defendant to account to Napco for all profits and expenses realized

by defendant and any subsidiary or affiliate of defendant;
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6. Award Napco its actual damages suffered as a result of the defendants’
infringement of the ‘890 patent and the rights held by Napco in said patent, and, pursuant to a
finding of willful infringement, order that such damages be trebled;

7. Award Napco any profits realized by each defendant as a result of its
infringement of the ‘890 patent and the rights held by Napco in said patent;

8. Declare this case to be exceptional under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and award Napco its
attorney fees; and

9. Grant such other and further relief as the equity of the case may require and as
this Court may deem just and proper, together with costs and disbursements of this action,
including attorneys’ fees.

A jury trial is hereby requested.

DATE: October 29 , 2003.

Respectfully submitted,

/

md R. Jarrett / a/

ErState Bar No. 18267
James M. Harrington
N.C. State Bar No. 30005
214 North Tryon Street, 47" Floor
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202
(704) 331-7400 [telephone]

(704) 331-7598 [facsimile]
Attorneys for Plaintiff

OF COUNSEL:

KENNEDY COVINGTON LOBDELL & HICKMAN, L.L.P.
Hearst Tower, 47th Floor

214 North Tryon Street

Charlotte, NC 28202-4006

(704) 331-7400
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7 ABSTRACT

A storage book for holding a plurality of discs, other
substantially-fat objects, or combinations of discs and
objects, such as CDs, DVDs, computer diskelles,
photographs, or the like, and having front and back covers
interconnected by a spine member and movable between a
closed position, in which the covers are gencrally stacked in
parsllel disposition 1o vne another, and an open position, in
which the covers are generally co-planar, and having a
spacer atlached 1o one of the covers, and further having a
least two adjacent disc holders cach pivotally mounted at a
fixed location on the spacer such that the dise holders are
movable between a folded position, in which the disc
holders fully overlap in stacked relation when the covers are
in closed or opened position, and an unfolded position, in
which the disc hoklers partially overlap in staggered relalion
1o one another when the covers are in open position.

25 Claims, 7 Drawing Sheets
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APPARATUS FOR HOLDING AND
NISPLAYING A PLURALITY OF OBJECTS

CROSS-REFERENCE TC RETAILED
APPLICATIONS

‘This application claims the benefit of US. Provisional
Patent Application Serial No. 60/211,702 w J. Rockland
Proffit, filed Jun. 15, 2000.

FIELD OF THE PRESENT INVENTION
The present invention relates broadly to storage contain-
ers and, more particularly, to storage books for holding a
plurality of substantially-planar objects, such as music or

comyputer compact discs, DVDs, computer disketies, video
discs, and photographs.

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

There are many types of containers used to store and
display discs for retail sale. For cxample, audio compact
dises (CDs) sold by the music indusiry and computer discs
sold by the computer software indusiry are typically pack-
aged in plastic containers, known in the trade as “jewel
boxes.” Jewel boxes typically have a plastic press-inserl
base and a transparent plastic cover. Such jewel boxes are
aften further encased in cardboard packaging for retail
display and [or additional protection of the discs.

After retail purchase, consumers have the oplion of keep-
ing each disc in its own jewel box or transferring a plurality
of dises to a different container ¢apable of holding and
displaying the plurality of discs. Not surprisingly, many
different types of holders, racks, and containers for storing
a plurality of jewel boxes or the discs themselves have been
developed and sold in recenl years.

For example, Pettey, U.S, Pat. No. 5,669,491, discloses a
compact disc folder booklet that is capable of holding
numerous CDs. The booklet has a front cover, a back cover,
and multiple top-loaded folders all of which are joined at a
center fold line that also acts as the spine between the front
and back covers. The pages open and may be turned caly in
a conventional book-likke manner.

Ozeki, U.S. Pat. No. 5,290,118, discloses a three-ring
binder notebook that is capable of holding numerous pages,
cach page capable of holding one or more CDs. The pages
of the notebook may be inscried, removed, and turned in a
conventional three-ring notebook manner. Similarly,
McQueeny, U.S. Pal. No. 5,813,525, discloses a compact
disc holder that can be inserted into a three-ring binder or
nolebook and turned in o similar conventienal manner.

Since many automobiles now have compact disc players,
numerous types of disc holders have also been developed for
use in cars. For example, Drew, U.S. Pat. No. 5,762,246,
discloses a variable position compact disc storage device
that is capable of mouating on a vehicle sua visor. Because
of the limited amount of space between a Lypical sun visor
and the roof of the car and in order to enable the device to
hold a plurality of CDs in such a limited space, the CDs are
stored in a fanned-out or staggered position. The device does
not have the capability of folding dowa into 4 non-fanned-
oul posilion, nor can il be used in conjunction with &
notebook or similar storage container.

Similarly, there are many differcnt types of albums or
notehooks that have been used for holding photographs,
trading cards, and the like; however, none have the capa-
bility of storing and protecting the subslantially planar
abjects (or mixed combinations of objects) in a notebook
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while also providing the capability of viewing cach page
alternatively in conventional page-by-page viewing or in a
fanned-out manner for simultaneous viewing of multiple
pages.

As is apparent from the foregoing, there currently exists
a need for a storage book that is not only capable of holding
a plurality of substantially planar objects using any of a
number of different types of holders bul also capable of
displaying such objects {or combinations of different
objects) in a stacked manner for conventional page-by-page
viewing or in fanned-out substantially-flat manner for simul-
taneous viewing of a plurality of the pages, whichever is
desired by the user. In addition, there currently exists a need
for such storage book with an expandable storage capacity
and with storage pages thal can be easily added or removed.

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE PRESENT
INVENTION

Briefly described, the present invention includes a storage
bouk for holding a plurality of substuntially planar objects,
comprising front and back covers inlerconnected by a spine
member and movable between a closed position, wherein
the covers are generally stacked in parallel disposition to one
another, and an open position, wherein the covers are
genesally co-planar, comprising a spacer attached to one of
the covers, and further comprising first and second adjacent
ohject holders each pivotally mounted at a fixed location on
the spacer such that the object holders are movable between
a folded position, wherein the object holders fully overlap in
stacked relation to one another when the covers are in the
closed position or the open position, and an unfolded
position, wherein the object holders partially overlap in
staggered relation 10 one another when the covers are in the
open position.

In another aspect of the invemion, the first object holder
is pivotally mounted (o the spacer along a side edge ol the
first object holder, and the second object holder is pivotally
mounied 1o the spacer intermediate opposed side edges of
the second object holder. Each of the object holders may be
pivotally mounted to the spacer along fold lines defined in
the spacer. Further, the second object holder may be pivot-
ally movahle generally about the pivotal mounting of the
first object holder to the spacer.

1n another aspeet of the present invention, one of the side
edges of the second object holder may be substantially flush
with an edge of the front cover furthermost from the spine
member wher the ebject holders are in the unfolded position
and the covers are in their open position. Further, each of the
object holders has a top and bottom planar facing surface,
the top planar facing surface of the first object holder being
in substantial abutment with the bottom planar facing sur-
face of the second object holder when in the folded or
unfolded positions.

In another aspect of the present invention, the height of
the stack of obicet holders when In the folded position is not
more than the width of the spine member between the
covers. Additionally, the spacer is preferably attached to the
back cover, and the second object holder is connected 1o the
covers only through the spacer.

In another embodiment of lhe present invention, the
storage book for holding a plurality of discs or other
substantially-flat objects comprises front and back covers
interconnected by a spine member and movable between a
closed position, wherein the covers are gencrally stacked in
parailel disposition 1o one another, and an open position,
wherein the covers are generally co-planar, comprises a
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binding member attached Lo voe of the covers and having an
alternating plurality of mounting surfaces and spacer sur-
faces each separated by a feld line, and further comprises a
plurality of disc holders each mounted to a respective one of
the mounting surfaces such that the disc holders are movable
between a folded position, wherein (he dise holders fully
overlap in stacked relation 10 one another when the covers
are in the closed position or the open position, and an
unfolded position, wherein the disc holders partially overlap
in staggered relation to one another when the covers are in
the open position.

In another aspect of this embodiment, a side edge of each
of the disc holders may be substantially in alignment with a
respective one of a first series of alternating fold lines.
Further, cach disc holder may be pivotally movable gener-
ally abowt the side edge of a next lower disc holder.
Additionally, each one of a second series of alternating fold
lines may be disposed intermediate opposed side edges of a
respeclive dise holder,

In another aspect of this embodiment, the side cdge of a
topmost disc holder is substantially flush with an edge of the
front cover furthermost from the spine member when the
dise holders are in the unfolded position and the covers are
in the open position. Further, each of the mounting surfaces
is substantially the same width as each of the spacer sur-
faces.

In another aspect of this invention, cach of the disc
holders has a top and bottom planar facing surface, the

bottom planar facing surface of each of the dise holders |

being in substantial abutment with the top planar lacing
surface of each next lower disc holder when in the folded
and unfolded posilions. In addition, the height of the disc
holders when in the folded position is not more than the
width of the spine member between the covers.

In another aspect of the present invention, the disc holders
may be a pocketed, transparent folder, which may or may not
include a movable flap covering the opening of the pocket.
The disc holders may alternatively be a press-insert type
siorage container, such as the base portion of a jewel-lype
CD case. Further, the disc holders may be shaped and sized
to hold one or a plurality of discs. In addition, the disc
holders may be fixedly or releascably connceted to their
respective mounting surfaces. Linally, the binding member
is attached only to the back cover, and the disc holders are
conneeted to the covers only through the binding member.

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS

Apreferred embodiment of the present invention will now

be described in detail with reference 1o the accompanying

drawings, wherein:

FIG. 1 is a perspective view of one embodiment of the
present invention with the storage book in a closed and
folded position;

FIG. 2 is a perspective view of the storage notebook of ~

FIG. 1 in an open and folded position;

FIG. 3 is a perspective view of the storage notebook of
FIG. 1 in an open and {olded position with the lopmost page
rned;

FIG. 4 is a plan view of the storage nolebook of FIG. 1in
an open and unfolded position;

FIG. 5 is a side view of the storage notebook of FIG. 11in
an open position and in an expanded transition belweon
folded and unfolded positions;

FIG. 6 is an enlarged cross-sectional view of a portion of
the siorage notebook shown in FlG. §; and
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FIG. 7 is a partial top view of an alternative ¢cmbodiment
of the storage boak.

DETAILED DESCRIPITON OF A PREFERRED
EMBODIMENT

Referring now 1o FIG. 1, a storage book 10 of the present
invention is shown in closed position. The storage book 10
has a fronl cover 12 and a back cover 14 joined together by
a spine member 16 to form a book-like caver for the storage
book 10, When in the closed position, the front cover 12 and
back cover 14 arc generally in parallel spaced relation to onc
another. A plurality of object holders or disc bolders 18 are
shown in [olded position (ic. with the disc holders 18 in
fully-overlapped, stacked paralle]l relation to ose another)
between the fromt and back covers 12,14, A spacer 20
connects cach dise holder 18 10 an adjacent holder in an
accordion-like fashion, as will be described in greater detail
herein.

FIG. 2 also shows the sturage book 10, but this time in an
open position. In the open position, the front cover 12 and
back cover 14 of the storage book 1) are generally co-planar.
As in FIG. 1, the disc holders 18 are shown in folded
position. Lach disc helder 18 has an interiar side edge 26
(see FIG. 6), an exerior side edge 28, a top edge 30, a
botlom cdge 32, and Nat top and bottom facing surlaces 38a,
386, When in folded position, the bottom facing surface 38b
ol each dise holder 18 lays in substantial abuiment with the
top facing surface 38a of the ncxt lower disc holder 18.
Spacer 20 connecls each disc holder 18 with its adjacent disc
holder 18 between interior edge 26 of one dise holder 18 and
interior portion 34 of the next higher disc holder 18, The
connection between spacer 20 and each interior edge 26
forms a pivot axis 22. The conneetion between spacer 20 and
cach interior portion 34 forms another pivot axis 24. In &
preferred embodiment, pivot axes 22, 24 correspond with
fold lines in spacer 20. Tn a preferred embodiment, the
distance d1 between interior edge 26 and nterior portion 34
of one disc holder 18 is substantially the same as the distance
d2 hetween pivot axes 22 and 24 of adjacent disc holders 18.
Distances d1 and d2 must be substantially the same for the
stack of disc holders 18 to lay in the folded position and
without any oflset of side edges 26 between adjacent disc
holders 18. Also, in a preferred embodiment, the height hl
ol the stack of disc holdrs 18 is substantially the same as the
width h2 of the spine member 16 between covers 12, 14.
Although height h1 may be less than width h2, it is generally
not desirable for height bl (o be greater than width h2 since
that will not allow covers 12, 14 to move fully into the
closed position. As can be seen [urther in FIG. 2, the stack
of disc holders 18 connecis only with back cover 14 and not
with frent cover 12 or spine member 16. This arrangement
allows the stack of disc holders 18 to remain in folded
position even when the covers 12, 14 are in an open posilion.
In an alternative embodiment (not shown), the stack of disc
holders 18 could be slidably connected 1o front cover 12 to
cnable the stack lo automatically transition from folded 10
unfolded pusition when the covers 12, 14 move from closed
to open position. With this alternative arrangement, the stack
of disc holders 18 would not remain in folded position when
the covers 12, 14 move to the open position.

FIG. 3 also shows (he storage book 10 in an open posilion,
The disc holders 18 are in a folded position with the topmost
disc holder 184 turned in a conventional book-like manner
about pivot axis 22 of the next lower disc holder 185
Although not shown, it should be nnderstood that each disc
holder 18 (or plurality of disc holders 18) can also be turned
in a similar convention book-like manner about pivot axis 22
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of the next lower disc holder 18 that is not being turned 1o
allow for “page-by-page” viewing of cach separate disc
holder 18.

FIG. 4 shows the storage book 10 again in an open
position, but this time the disc holders 18 are shown in a
fully unfolded position. In the unfolded position, the disc
holders 18 partially overlap in staggered relation to one
another. Tt should be understood that each disc holder 18 can
be moved into a staggered position relative to the next lower
dis¢ holder 18 on the stack until atl of the disc holders 18
have heen so moved and the entire stack is in the fully
unfolded position. In a preferred embodiment, when in the
fully unfolded position, the interior edge 26 of the (opmost
disc holder 18 is substantially in alignment with the side
edpe 36 of front cover 12. 1n addition, the distance d3
between exterior cdges 28 of adjacent dise bolders 18 1s
approximately equal to the sum of distances d1 and d2; thus,
the available area for viewing the contents of each disc
holder 18 can bhe adjusted by modifying the lengths of
distances d1 and d2. Similar to when in the folded position,
when in the unfolded position the bollom facing surlace 385
of each disc holder 18 lays in substantial abutment with the
top facing surface 38a of the next lower disc holder 18.

Referring now to FIG. 5, a side view of the disc holders
18 arc shown in transition between the folded and unfolded
positions with the binding member 40 expanded out away
from the covers 12, 14 in urder 10 show additional details
and relationships between elements. The binding member 40
consists of a plurality of mounting surfaces 42 and spacer
surfaces 44, which alternate with one another in accordion-
like fashion. Because the length d1 of each mounting surface
42 is substantially the same as the length d2 of each spacer
surface 44, the dise holders 18 have the capability of moving
between the folded and untolded positions as previously

discussed. As was seen in FIG, 2, each spacer surface 44 3

connects each disc holder 18 with its adjacent disc holder 18
between interior edge 26 of one disc holder 18 and interior
portion 34 of the next higher disc holder 18. The connection
between spacer surface 44 and each interior edge 26 forms
a pivot axis or fold line 54. The connection between spacer
surface 44 and cach interior portion 3 forms another pivot
axis or fold line 52, Each fold line 54 is included within a
first series of alternating fold lines. Correspondingly, cach
fold line 52 is included within 4 second series of aliernating
fold lincs. As was shown in FIG. 2, the stack of disc holders
18 connects only with back cover 14 and not with front
cover 12 or spine member 16 through binding member 40
More specifically, mounting member 64 of binding member
40 is fixedly connecled in sbulting relationship with the

interior of back cover 14 and extension member 66 exiends -

away from mounting member 64 and connects with the first
mounting surface 42 by means of pin 46 or other conven-
tional connection means. In this embodiment, each disc
holder 18 is cenoected to a respective mounting surface 42
using pins 46.

As can he seen in FIG, 6, pin 46 consists of a male
member 48 that removably inserts into female member 50.
Additionally, reinforcement members 62 may be uscd to
strengthen the connection of pin 46 with disc holder 18 and
binding member 40. Preferably, two reinforcement members
62 are used in conjunction with the topmost disc holder 18
but only one reinforcement member 62 need be used with
the disc holders 18 below the topmost. It should also be
understood that any Lype of conventional connection means
other than pin 46 could be used to connect disc holder 18
with mounting surface 42. For example, a permanent
compression-type pin or ring could be uvsed. In addition,
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cach disc holder 18 could be connected to its respective
mounting surface 42 using any suitable adhesive. Further, it
should be understood thal one or more combinations of
connection means could be used on any single disc holder 18
or on different disc holders 18 within the same stack. The
advantage ol using pins 46, especially for the topmost disc
holder 18, is the capability of adding additional binding
members (not shown) o the existing binding member 40 to
cxpand the number of disc holders 18 that can be contained
within storage book 10.

it should be further understood that disc holders 18 could
be shaped or formed to hold many different types of sub-
stantially flat objects in many different types of manners. For
example, as shown in FIG. 2, each disc holder 18 could be
a transparent plastic folder with a 1op-loaded slov 56 for
receiving a disc or other object 60 in the pocket crealed
between top and bottom facing surfaces 38a, 38b.
Optionally, as shown in FIG. 3, such a top-loaded pocket
disc holder 18 could have a flap 58 covering the slot 56 of
each pocket. In another alternative (not shown), each disc
holder 18 could be construcied of cardboard and have an
appropriate pocket for receiving a disc. Further, as shown in
FIG. 7, anather type of disc holder 18 could be a press-insert
storage container, similar to the bottom portion of a standard
jewel box CD container. Finally, it should be understood that
each dise holder 18 could be sized 10 include any number of
discs, objects, or combination of discs and objects per
“page.” Preferably, however, in order to keep the slorage
book 10 of reasonable size, cach disc holder 18 will be sized
to hold one, two, or four such discs or objects per page.

In practice, the storage book 10 of the present invention
enables one t hold a plurality of dises or substantially-flat
objects, such a CDs, DVDs, photographs, computer
diskettes, or the like, in a protected notebook container as
seen in FIG. 1. The storage hook 1 can then be opened as
shown in FIG. 2. Unlike a conventional book, however, the
disc holders 18 remain stacked when the storage book 10 is
in the fully opened position because the disc holders 18 are
connected only to the back cover 14 through spacer 20 or
binding member 40. From this position, each topmost disc
holder 18 can be turned one at a time for conventional
page-by-page viewing as shown in FIG. 3. When turned in
this manncr, such disc holder 18 pivots about axis 22 or fold
line 54 of the next lower disc holder 18 in the stack.
Alternatively, one or more of the disc holders 18 can be
pivoted aboul its own axis 24 or fold line 52 and along the
inner surface of front cover 12 until the stack of disc holders
18 is in the fully unfolded position as shown in FIG. 4. When
in the unfolded position, multiple objects {or al least a
portion of each object stored in the disc holders 18) may be
viewed simultancously.

As can be seen from the detailed specification, some of
the benefits of the present invention include the ability to
store a plurality of objects or discs in a notebook-type
storage container, which provides adequate protection for
such objects. Additional benefits of the present invention
include the ability (0 open the notebook to view each “page”
in a conventional manner by turning one page at a tlime or
by Fanning out all of the pages in a substantially flat manner
for viewing multiple objcets and pages simultancously.

Tt will therelore be teadily understood by those persons
skilled in the art that the present invention is susceptible of
broad utility and application. Many embodiments and adap-
tations of the present invention other than those herein
described, as well as many variations, modifications and
equivalent arrangements will be apparent [rom or reasonably
suggested by the present invention and the foregoing
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deseriplion thereof, without departing from the substance or
scope of the present invention, Accordingly, while lhe
presenl invention has been described herein in detail in
relation 1o its preferred embodiment, it is o be understood
that this disclosure is only illustrative and cxemplary of the
present invention and is made mercly for purposes of
providing a fall and enabling disclosure of the invention,
The loregeing disclosure is nol intended or 10 be conslrued
1o limit the present invention or atherwise 10 exclude any
such olher embodiments, adaplations, variations, modifica-
tions and cquivalent arrangements, the presenl invention
being limited only by the claims appended hereto and the
equivalents thereof.
What is claimed is:
1. A storage book for holding a plurality of substantially
planar objects, comprising:
front and back covers interconnected by a spine member
and movable between a closed position, wherein said
covers are generally stacked in parallel disposition to
one another, and an open position, whereia said covers
are generally co-planar;
a spacer altached 10 one of said covers; and
first and second adjacent object holders each pivotally
mounted at a fixed location on said spacer along folds

such that said object holders are movable between a

folded position, wherein said objeet holders fully over-
lap in stacked relation Lo one another when said covers
are in said clused position and said open pesition, and
an unfolded position, wherein said object holders par-
tially overlap in staggered relation to one another when
said covers are in said open position.

2. The storage ook of claim 1, wherein said first object
holder is pivotally mounted to said spacer along a side edge
of said first object holder, and said second object holder 15
pivotally mouated o said spacer intermediate opposed side
edges of said second object holder.

3. The storage book of c¢laim 2, wherein each of said
objeet holders is pivatally mounted to said spacer along fold
lines defined in said spacer.

4, The storage book of claim 2, wherein said second
object holder is pivotally movable generally about said
pivotal mounting of said fisst object holder to said spacer.

5. The storage book of claim 2, wherein one of said side
edges of said second object holder is substantially flush with
an edge of said front cover furthermost from said spine
member when said ohject holders are in said unfolded
position and said covers are in said open position.

§. The storage book of claim 1, wherein each of said
object helders has a top and bottom planar facing surface,
said bottom planar facing surface of said first object holder

being in substantial abutment with said top planar [acing .

surface of said second object holder when in said folded
position.

7. The storage book of clalm 1, wherein each of said
object holders has a top and bottom planar facing surface,
said bottom planar facing surface of said first object holder
being in substantial abutment with said top planar facing
surface of said second object holder when in said unfolded
position.

8. The storage book of claim 1, wherein a height of said
object holders when in said folded position is not more than
the width of said spine member between said covers.

9. The storage book of claim 1, wherein said spacer is
attached to said back cover, and said second object holder is
connected 1o said back cover only through said spacer.

10. A storage book for holding a plurality of discs,
comprising;

front and back covers inlerconnected by a spine member

and movable between a closed position, wherein said
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8
covers are generally stacked in paratlel disposition to
one another, and an open position, wherein said covers
are generally co-planar,
a binding member attached to one of said covers and
having an alternating plurality of mounting surfaces
and spacer surfaccs each scparated by a fold line;

a plurality of disc holders each mounted 10 a respective
onc of said mounting surfaccs such that said disc
holders are movable between a folded position,
wherein said disc holders fully overlap in stacked
relation to one another when said covers are in said
closed position and said open position, and an unfolded
position, wherein said disc holders partially overlap in
staggered relation to one another when said covers are
in said open position.

11. The storage book of claim 10, wherein a side edge of
each of said disc holders is subslantially in alignment with
a respective one of a first series of alternating fold lines.

12. The storage book of claim 1E, wherein cach disc
holder is pivatally movable generally about said side edge ol
a next lower disc holder,

13. The storage book of claim 11, wherein each one of a
second series of alternating fold lines is disposed interme-
diate opposed side edges of 4 respective dise holder.

14. The storage book of claim 11, wherein said side edge
of a topmost disc holder is substantially flush with an edge
of said front cover furthermost from said spine member
when said disc holders are in said unfolded position and said
covers are in said open pesition,

15. The storage book of claim 10, wherein cach of said
mounting surfaces is substantially the same width as each of
said spacer surfaces.

16. The storage book of claim 10, wherein each of said
disc holders has a top and bottom planar facing surface, said
bottom planar [acing surlace of each of said disc holders
being in substantial abutment with said top planar facing
surface of each next lower disc holder when in said folded
position.

17. The storage book of claim 10, wherein each of said
disc holders has a top and bottom planar facing surface, said
bottom planar facing surface of each of said disc holders
being fn substantial abutment with said top planar facing
surface of each next lower disc holder when in said unfolded
position.

18. The storage book of ¢laim 10, wherein a height of said
dise holders when in aid [olded position is not more than the
width of said spine member between said covers.

19. The storage book of claim 10, wherein one of said disc
holders is a pocketed, transparent folder.

20. The storage notebook of ¢laim 19, wherein said lolder
includes a movable flap covering the opening of said pocket.

21. The storage notebook of claim 10, wherein one of said
disc holders is a press-inser storage container.

22. The storage notebouk of claim 10, wherein one of said
disc holders is capable of holding a plurality of discs.

23, The storage book ol claim 10, wherein one of said disc
holders is releasably conneeted (o ity respeclive mounting
surface.

24, The storage book of claim 10, wherein one of said dise
holders is fixedly connecled 1o ils respective mounting
surlzee.

25, The storage book ol claim 10, wherein said binding
member is attached enly 1o said back cover, and said disc
holders are connected 10 said back cover only through said
binding member.
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